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the Court Recorder #2, and the Judges' Chambers #1, 2, and 3. The Jury
Rooms, the Juvenile Officer, the Circuit Court Recorder #1 and 3, the
rest rooms, and the Circuit Court #1 open off the north-south hallway.

The first floor color scheme is repeated.

The floor covering is linoleum in the east-west hallway, the north hall,
and the rotunda area. The south hall has wood flooring.

The main Circuit Courtroom, Circuit Court #1, is in the south end of the
south wing. The entrance into the courtroom is on the north and has
half glass, half wood, double doors. Large, rectangular windows line
the three exterior walls. The walls are painted green and have cream-
colored woodwork. Accoustical tiles, in green and grey, have been
placed on the lowered ceiling. Most of the trim and furnishings are of
dark wood. This room has been reduced in area to provide additional
office space along its former north side.

Attic

The attic is a large, high unfinished area which provides space for

the interior wood and metal supports of the dome. Access to this area
is by a narrow stairway on the north side of the east wing, immediately
to the east of the rotunda area.

ALTERATIONS

No major alterations have been executed since the rebuilding of the
courthouse after the 1885 fire. At that time, several changes were made
in the arrangement of the rooms and a new, diminished, drumless dome
added.

Since 1885, it appears that only minor room-by-room renovations have been
carried out and several new vaults added. The most drastic alteration
was the covering over of the dome opening in the rotunda at the second
floor ceiling level with a translucent material and the installation

of lighting fixtures behind it.

BUCHANAN COUNTY JAIL

The jail, which is to the northeast of the courthouse and on the same
block, is an intrusion on the courthouse site. Is is a red brick building
with white stone trim and is constructed in a modified cruciform plan.

The building is divided into three
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DESCRIBE THE PRESENT ANDO ORIGINAL (/f known) PHYSICAL APPEARANCE

Buchanan County Courthouse i{s a cruciform, Renaissance Revival-style
building, with embellishments in the Romano-Tuscan mode, as seen
primarily in the window treatment. Pedimented porticoes in the
Corinthian order lend dignity and prominence to the building, while
lessening the severity normally associated with Romano-Tuscan de~
tailing. The window proportions show the influence of Victorian
taste for verticality. A dome surmounts the courthouse at the
intersection of the wings.

EXTERIOR

Over-all dimensions

The courthouse has north and south frontages of 218 3/4 feet, and
east and west frontages of 200 feet.

South wing. The south wing is rectanguiar in plan. There are five
bays (56 i/2‘féet) on the south, east, and west facades of this wing.

East wing. The east wing is T-shaped in plan. The east facade 1is
eleven bays (121' 10 1/2") wide, the south facades are four bays
(40* 2 1/2") each, and the southernmost section of the west facade
(which)is the wall between the south facades) is three bays (28'

1 1/2") wide. :

West wing. The west wing is also T—shaﬁed and follows the same pro-
portions as the east wing (except for the addition of a fireproof
chamber at the basement, first,and second story levels on the northern
portion of the east facade): eleven bays (118 2/3 feet) on the west
facade, four bays (40' 2 1/2") on the south facades, three bays

(53" 1 1/2") on the westernmost section of the north facade, three
bays (28' 1 1/2") on the northernmost section of the east facade,

and three bays (26 feet) on the southern section of the east facade.

North wing. The north wing is L-shaped with a three-sided projecting
bay on the southern section of the west facade. The northwest and

- southwest facades of this projection measure 12 1/2 feet each (one
bay), and the central wall measures 15' 1 1/2" (also a single bay}.
The north facade is eight bays (90' 7 1/2"), the. northern section of
the west facade is four bays (40' 2 1/2"), the south facade is four
bays (38 1/2 feet), and the east facade {s an undetermined number of
bays (78 1/2 feet).

Construction materials

The courthouse is constructed of red brick walls, painted white; stone
columns, window trim, and decorative details; and a glass and tin
dome. The foundations are built of stone ashlar with a rough texture.

33
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Wood has been used on the doors and the moldings between the window
1ights.

Porticoes .
There are three identical porticoes, one dominating each of the main
east, west, and south facades. Each portico has four, tall, well-
proportioned, fluted, Corinthian columns. (The column capitals were
carved by a Tocal stone cutting company, J. Pfeiffer & Son). Each
column rests on a massive, block base. The pediment and entablature,
which are supported by the columns, are simple with their only detailing
being modillions and dentils. The triangular space of the pediment is
filled with brick to match the wall surface of the courthouse.

Openings

Windows. The fenestration pattern is identical on all the floors of the
courthouse, one-window-per-bay.

Due to the sloping terrain on which the courthouse is located, the base-
ment windows are not continuous around the entire building, having been
omitted on the north facade and the north end of the east wing. ATl
but seven of these windows are rectangular and have two-over-two light,
double-hung sashes and a smooth stone lintel over them. The seven
remaining windows, which are on the south ends of the east and west
wings, are round-arched and ornamented with a stone molding and centered
~ keystone. Four, small, three-over-three Tight, double-hung sash win-
dows are located on the west facade of the north wing. Three similar
windows are on the south side of the same wing and are inserted into
shallow window wells.

The first story windows are tall, slender, and rectangular in shape.

Each window, except for those on the north, south, and northernmost

west facades of the north wing, -has a two-over-two light, double-hung
sash. The remaining window openings are filled with small, square, glass
blocks. The only ornamentation is the alternating segmental and ped-
imented arches over the windows. These arches are found on the south,
west, and east wings only, the north wing being an exception, having
only a raised brick molding with a centered keystone over each window.

A1l the second story windows, except for the eight on the north facade
and the two northernmost windows on the west facade of the north wing,
are round-arched and have two-over-two 1light, double-hung sashes. Each

GPU 921.724
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has a centered keystone and imposts at the spring of the arch. The ten
remaining north wing windows are similar in shape and ornament to the
other second story windows, but are filled with the same small, square,
glass blocks that are faund on the first story windows.

Doorways and doors. The three main entrances into the courthouse are
centered on the west, south, and east facades under the porticoes. Each
entrance spans the width of three bays and is made up of three separate
openings (one-per-bay), each filled with a set of double, half glass,
half wood doors. Over the doorway is a horizontal, two-light transom
and a fanlight with circular moldings. Framing each doorway are pil-
asters supporting an arched molding with centered keystone.

A11 secondary entrances are on the basement level except for the north
(or rear) entrance which is on the first story level. These entrances
are one door wide and give access to the offices located in the basement.
The north entrance is similar to the main entrances in design, but not

in size, having been reduced to one bay in width. The central, south
basement doorway is identical to the rear doorway, but has no transom

and fanlight sections over it.

Dome

A three-stage dome is centered over the intersection of the four wings.
The wooden base is octagonal in plan with bull's eye windows on alter-
nating sides. The tin second stage is cylindrical, forming a transition
between the base and the domical third stage. Eight, decorative, tin,
inverted bracket-like features are attached to this section at the points
corresponding with the junctures of each side of the base. The dome

has eight ribs corresponding in placement with the location of the
bracket-1ike features. The spaces between the ribs are filled with
small, rectangular panes of translucent glass with a molding framing

each pane. A lantern tops the dome.

Roof
Low-pitched, gable roofs cover the T-shaped east and west wings. Hip

roofs cover the south wing and the north-south axis portion of the north
wing. The east-west section of the north wing also has a gable roof.

Chimneys

A single chimney services the building. It is separate from the building

GPOU 921.724
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at the north side. It is square in plan, tapering upward to a height
approximating that of the dome. The chimney is constructed of brick,
painted white t6 match the main building.

-

Decorative features

brick pil

capitals

The wide

two paral

pilaster

recessed
the panel

Entrance

A11 decorative features are of stone or brick. They occur on all sides,
except the rear north facade of the north wing. They include: 1) the

asters between the windows; 2) the stone arches over the first

and second story windows (already described); 3) the brick stringcourse;
4) the entablature; 5) the gable ends of the east and west wings; and
6) the double recessed panels under the first story windows.

The pilasters extend from the basement to the entablature, intersecting
the stringcourse between the first and second stories. The decorative

are in the Corinthian order on the south facades of the west,

south, and east wings and are innovative non-classic elsewhere.

stringcourse spans the east, south, and west facades, as well

as the north and south ends of the east and west wings. It consists of

lel stone moldings enclosing a brick section which is ornamented

with alternating single, horizontal, recessed panels, under the second
story windows, and sets of three vertical, recessed panels on the

sections which intersect the stringcourse.

The stone entablature is continued across all the facades of the building.

The gable ends of the east and west wings match the pediments of the
west, east and south porticoes.

Horizontal, rectangular, recessed panels with a second, smaller, interior,

center are under the first story windows, correspond1ng to
s of the stringcourse.

stairs

A second

A monumental, straight, stone stairway is located on the west facade.

set of stairs, on the south facade, has a double "L" plan. The

east entrance matches that on the west, but has only a few steps up into
the building because of the high grade on this facade.

GPU 921.724
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INTERIOR
Basement

Located in the basement are various offices (the Magistrate 1st District,
the health unit, the Superintendent of Schools, the County Highway
Engineer, the State Veterans Office, and the State Highway Engineer),
storage vaults, storerooms, and the boiler room. The walls, which are
of stone ashlar, match the exterior basement walls. The floors are only
partially finished; the offices have cement floors and the hallways

have a centered, cement walkway with gravel along the sides. The door-
ways are arched with a double row of brickwork trim.

First floor

Two hallways, one running east-west and the other north-south, intersect
each other in the central rotunda area. Opening off the east-west hall-
way are various offices and courts: the Assessor, the Recorder, the
Sheriff, the State Probation Officer, the County Court, the County

Court Clerk, the Public Administrator, and the Probate Court. Other
offices are on the north-south hallway: the Auditor, the Collector, the
Treasurer, the Prosecuting Attorney, and the Magistrate 2nd District.

The walls of the corridors are painted beige on the lower third and
green on the upper two-thirds. There is a red marble baseboard (12 inches
high) on the rotunda area walls.

The floors are surfaced with tile. An over-all pattern of small green
crosses covers the central portions of the hall floors, and there is a
border design of Grecian key patterns in green and grey. The State Seal,
in ornamental tiles, is centered on the rotunda floor.

Two, U-plan, symmetrical stairways of wrought iron and wood connect the
first and second floors and are in the northwest and northeast corners
of the rotunda.

The first story is 18 feet high.

Second floor

The second floor hallways repeat the organization of the first floor.
Opening off the east-west hallway are the following offices and courts:
The Circuit Court Clerk, the Circuit Court #3, the Circuit Court #2,

GPU 921.724
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the Court Recorder #2, and the Judges' Chambers #1, 2, and 3. The Jury
Rooms, the Juvenile Officer, the Circuit Court Recorder #1 and 3, the
rest rooms, and the Circuit Court #1 open off the north-south hallway.

The first floor color scheme is repeated.

The floor covering is linoleum in the east-west hallway, the north hall,
and the rotunda area. The south hall has wood flooring.

The main Circuit Courtroom, Circuit Court #1, is in the south end of the
south wing. The entrance into the courtroom is on the north and has
half glass, half wood, double doors. Large, rectangular windows line
the three exterior walls. The walls are painted green and have cream-
colored woodwork. Accoustical tiles, in green and grey, have been
placed on the lowered ceiling. Most of the trim and furnishings are of
dark wood. This room has been reduced in area to provide additional
office space along its former north side.

Attic

The attic is a large, high, unfinished area which provides space for
the interior wood and metal supports of the dome. Access to this area
is by a narrow stairway on the north side of the east wing, immediately
to the east of the rotunda area.

ALTERATIONS

No major alterations have been executed since the rebuilding of the
courthouse after the 1885 fire. At that time, several changes were made
in the arrangement of the rooms and a new, diminished, drumless dome
added.

Since 1885, it appears that only minor room-by-room renovations have been
carried out and several new vaults added. The most drastic alteration
was the covering over of the dome opening in the rotunda at the second
floor ceiling level with a translucent material and the installation

of lighting fixtures behind it.

BUCHANAN COUNTY JAIL

The jail, which is to the northeast of the courthouse and on the same
block, is a red brick building with white stone trim and is constructed
in a modified cruciform plan. The building is divided into three

GPU 921.72a
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sections: a two-story eastern section (the jailer's quarters) with a
hip roof, a three to four-story western section containing the cells
and covered by a combination hip and gable roof, and a one-story middle
section which divides the jailer's quarters from the jail proper.
Entrances into the building are centered on the east facade and on the
south and north ends of the connecting one-story passage. The windows
in the jailer's quarters and passage are rectangular with double-hung
sashes. Bars are over the windows in the jail proper (or west wing).

SITE

The courthouse is located on the west three-quarters of the courthouse
square (City Block 48), facing south. The jail is also located on this
block, but in the northeast corner, ten feet from the north curb and

12 feet from the east curb. Nine to twelve feet wide sidewalks surround
the square along the curb. Other sidewalks lead from the curb walk

to the east portico entrance; the rear, north door; and the basement
entrance on the south end of the east wing. A fifth, L-shaped walk
connects the east portico entrance with the basement entrances on the
south end of the east wing and on the east side of the south wing.
Commercial buildings are located on the adjacent blocks to the south and
west of the courthouse square, while a parking lot is to the north and

a partially cleared block is to the east.

GPU 921.724
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

Buchanan County Courthouse 1is 51gn1f1cant as the only cruciform,
Renaissance Revival courthouse in Missouri. Only two other court-
houses have a similar floor plan, St. Louis City Courthouse and
Platte County Courthouse; but neither of these courthouses are in
the Renaissance Revival sty]e Buchanan County Courthouse is
second only to St. Louis City Courthouse in size and monumentality.
When the courthouse was built in 1873, the building was labeled

as the largest courthouse in the state outside St. Louis.

The courthouse is also significant by the fact ‘that the building
survived the devastating fire of 1885 which gutted the interior,
leaving only the exterior walls and portico columns standing. It
is through the stubbornness of the insurance companies that the
County did not succeed in its E]ans to demolish the rest of the
building and build a new courthouse with the insurance money. 1In a
manner of speaking, these {nsurance companies were early preser-
vationists in that they advocated the renovation of the courthouse
to its condition before the fire, instead of its demolition.

A third area of significance is jurisprudence. This courthouse
served as the scene of the trial of the Ford brothers for the murder
of Jesse James.

Buchanan County, established in 1839, has had three courthouses.

The present courthouse is the third such structure. Previous to the
construction of the first courthouse, the county and circuit courts
met in the homes of Richard Hil1l and Joseph Robidoux. In January,
1841, the county court ordered that a log house containing two

rooms be erected in the town of Sparta, which was located near the
center of the county. The contract for the courthouse was let to
Guilford Moultray. This structure was 18 feet x 20 feet and lighted
by day through two 12-11ght windows in each room on the first floor
and by a 6-1ight window in each gable. When the courthouse was

used at night, tallow candles were used. This building served more
than one purpose; aside from being the "palace of justice, it was
also the academy of learning, the temple of worship, the forum of the
people, and the opera house."l
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On November 9, 1842, the county court appropriated $6,000 to erect a new
courthouse and jail. This courthouse was to be built in Sparta. Before
the courthouse could be constructed, however, a conflict between Sparta
and Blacksnake Hills dgveloped over the location of the county seat.

As a result of this agitation, Sparta Tost and the $6,000 was invested
in St. Joseph. City Block 48 was donated by Joseph Robidoux for the
location of the new courthouse. A brick structure, with Louis S. Stigers
and N. J. Taylor as the architects and builders, was built. It was a
two-story, 50 feet x 74 feet, 9-room building with a dome and a front
(or south) facade portico. "Insignificant as such a structure would
appear today in the city, it was then a prominent architectural and
visual Tandmark in the landscape, due to its elevated position."2

In 1871, after twenty-five years of service to the county, the building
was condemned as unsafe and was vacated in October of the same year.
The next courthouse, of which the present one forms a part, was begun
in 1873. Its architect was P. F. Meagher and its builder was John
DeClue. The courthouse, costing $173,000, was of brick with cut-stone
foundations and trimmings and was constructed in a cruciform plan with
the arms running east and west and north and south. In the center of
the building, "1ike a giant-headed spike joining the arms of the cross,"3
was a domed rotunda rising 145' from the ground level. Stoves heated
the building. Aside from the county offices, the building was occupied
for various other purposes including space for lawyers' offices, rooms
for sleeping purposes, worship rooms for the Latter Day Saints Church,
lecture space for the Northwestern Medical College, and rooms for the
Mendelsohn Society, a musical organization. '

On the morning of March 28, 1885, the courthouse was severely damaged by
a fire that gutted the interior and destroyed the dome, but Teft the
exterior walls and columns intact. It is a generally accepted theory
that from some neglect or accident the fire was transferred from either
a stove or an ash receptacle to the floor.

Even though the building was amply covered by insurance, the county court
had considerable difficulty in obtaining settlement from the insurance
companies. The court demanded a full cash settlement in the amount

of the policies with the intention of erecting a new building, while the
insurance companies wanted to pay only a part of the coverage. An
agreement was reached by which the insurance companies obligated them-
selves to place the building in the same condition as it had been before
the fire. This agreement was carried out with R. K. Allen as the

builder and Judge Bernard Barton as the supervisor. The building, as

GPOU 921.724
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then completed (with minor interior changes and improvements), is still
standing and in use today. It is to these insurance companies that
preservationists can be thankful. Without them, it would have been
quite poszib1e that this magnificent courthouse, hailed as "Buchanan's
capitol,"* would have been Tost.

The Buchanan County Courthouse is also noteworthy as the scene of the
trial of the murderers of Jesse James, the Ford brothers. Jesse James,
upon whose head the State had put a price and to whose captors or
slayers immunity had been promised, was killed in St. Joseph on April 3,
1882. James had been living in St. Joseph since 1881 with his wife,
two children, and Charley Ford, a fellow bandit. Tempted by a $10,000
reward and the promised immunity, Charley and Bob Ford entered into a
trap and killed James, Charley's friend and protector. After the fatal
shooting, the Fords wired Governor Crittenden, Sheriff Timberlake of
Clay County, and the marshall of Kansas City that they had killed Jesse
James. The Fords had themselves placed in custody after admitting to
the police that they had shot James. Subsequently, Mrs. James swore
out warrants charging them with the murder of her husband. Judge 0. M.
Spencer, who was the State's attorney for Buchanan County at the time,
insisted on prosecuting the Fords. They were indicted for murder in
the first degree, and upon arraignment before Judge Sherman, pleaded
guilty to the charge. Spencer sentenced them to be hanged on May 19th.
On April 19th a pardon, signed by Governor Crittenden, arrived and the
Fords were released. The reward of $10,000, which had been offered by
the express and railroad companies that had been troubled by the depre-
dations of the James gang, was paid to the Fords.

PRESENT STATUS

The present status of the Buchanan County Courthouse is precarious due

to a lack of maintenance and its location in the urban renewal area of
St. Joseph. The Land Clearance for Redevelopment Authority has offered
the county $245,000 for the courthouse and jail property. This offer,

in turn, has launched a move by the county court to push for a new court-
house and jail. The court approves of this move on the basis that the
courthouse and jail are too expensive to keep in good repair. Other
groups in Buchanan County are against such a plan. They advocate re-
storation of the structures, especially the courthouse. Architectural
authorities who have been called upon for their opinions have also ad-
vocated this restoration position. One such authority is Earl W.
Henderson, Jr. of Springfield, I11inois who suggests "preservation of the
exterior of the present building and renovation of the interior. The

GPO 921.724
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construction of the courthouse here is sound and there is enough space
to take care of growth in the future. Renovation could be carried out
on a wing-to-wing basis thus eliminating the necessity of moving the
offices out of the building during the restoration."d A bond issue is
scheduled in the hopes that some solution can be found to this contro-
versy.

COMPARISON WITH OTHER MISSOURI COUNTY COURTHOUSES

Buchanan County Courthouse is one of two courthouses built in the
cruciform plan, the other being the St. Louis City Courthouse (the St.
Louis 01d Courthouse) dated 1839-51 and 1859. A third courthouse (1866),
in Platte City, the seat of Platte County, is a variation of this cross-
type plan. This building has had lower, square-plan additions in-
serted into the exterior voids between the arms of the cross. Of the
three courthouses, Buchanan County's (1873) was the Tast to be built.

The Buchanan County Courthouse is the only example of the three in the
Renaissance Revival style. The St. Louis Courthouse is more purely

a Greek Revival-style building, and the courthouse in Platte City has
a comparatively generalized neo-classic derivation.

In size and monumentality, Buchanan County Courthouse ranks second in
the state after the St. Louis Courthouse. When built, the Buchanan
County Courthouse was labeled as the largest in the state outside St.
Louis.

The survey of Missouri's sites of historical and architectural signifi-
cance is based on the selection of sites as they relate to theme studies
in Missouri history as outlined in Missouri's "Comprehensive Statewide
Preliminary Historic Preservation Plan." The Buchanan County Court-
house is therefore being nominated to the National Register of Historic
Places because the courthouse 1) is the only cruciform, Renaissance
Revival-style courthouse in Missouri; 2) survived a county's desire to
demolish it after a devastating fire in 1885 which gutted the interior,
leaving only the exterior walls and columns standing; and 3) was the
scene of the trial of the murderers of Jesse James.

FOOTNOTES

1. Chris Rutt, ed., History of Buchanan County and City of St. Joseph
and Representative Citizens (Chicago: Biographical Publishing Co.,
1904), p. 144.
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2. History of Buchanan County, Missouri (St. Joseph, Mo.: Union
Historical Company, 1881), p. 334.

3. County Records (xegox copy).

4. Daily Herald [St. Joseph, Missouri], March 29, 1885.

5. St. Joseph [Missouri] News-Press, February 22, 1972.
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COUNTY: Buchanan
LOCATION: St. Joseph, Mo., See Site File Copy
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) L Mo. 64501
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(AND PRESENTOR): John Harr - AC member
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Buchanan County Courthouse is significant as the only cruciform, Renaissance

~trial of the Ford brothers for the murder of Jesse James.

Revival courthouse in Missouri. OUnly two other courthouses have a similar
floor plan, St. Louis City Courthouse and Platte County Courthouse; but
neither of these courthouses are in the Renaissance Revival style. Buchanan
County Courthouse is second only to St. Louis City Courthouse in size and
monumentality. The courthouse is also significant by the fact that the build-
ing survivéd ‘the devastating fire of 1885 which gutted the interior, leaving
only the exterior walls and portico columns standing. A third area of
significance is jurisprudence. This courthouse served as the scene of the































































































































